SECOND EDITION

Trades Access Common Core

Line B: Employability Skills - Competency B-4:

Describe the Apprenticeship System



BCcampus ... OpenEd

Trades Access Common Core Competency B-4: Describe the Apprenticeship System - 2nd Edition

Trades Access Common Core Competency B-4: Describe the Apprenticeship System - 2nd Edition

Line B: Employability Skills

Camosun College

BCCAMPUS VICTORIA, B.C.





Trades Access Common Core Competency B-4: Describe the Apprenticeship System - 2nd Edition by Camosun College is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License</u>, except where otherwise noted.

© 2015, 2021 Camosun College

The CC licence permits you to retain, reuse, copy, redistribute, and revise this book—in whole or in part—for free providing the author is attributed as follows:

<u>Trades Access Common Core Competency B-4: Describe the Apprenticeship System – 2nd Edition</u> by Camosun College is licensed under a <u>CC BY 4.0 licence</u>.

If you redistribute all or part of this book, it is recommended the following statement be added to the copyright page so readers can access the original book at no cost:

Download for free from the **B.C.** Open Collection.

Sample APA-style citation (7th Edition):

Camosun College. (2021). *Trades access common core competency B-4: Describe the apprenticeship system* (2nd ed.). BCcampus. https://opentextbc.ca/tradescommoncoreb4/

Cover image attribution:

"Builders Level" by Jason King (Camosun College) is licenced under a CC BY 4.0 licence.

Ebook ISBN: 978-1-77420-154-1 **Print ISBN:** 978-1-77420-153-4

Visit BCcampus Open Education to learn about open education in British Columbia.

This book was produced with Pressbooks (https://pressbooks.com) and rendered with Prince.

Contents

	Accessibility Statement	ix
	For Students: How to Access and Use this Textbook	xii
	About BCcampus Open Education	XV
	About the Book	1
	Introduction	1
	Part I. <u>Main Body</u>	
1.	Learning Task 1: The Apprenticeship System	3
	Understanding the Apprenticeship System	3
	Trades Training in British Columbia	5
	Essential Skills and Trades Training	ϵ
	How to Start an Apprenticeship, and Registration	8
	Apprenticeship Roles and Responsibilities	S
	Scheduling Your Technical Training	11
	Financial Support for Training	12
	Apprentice Interprovincial Mobility	13
	Self-Test Self-Test	13
2.	Learning Task 2: Describe the Red Seal Program	19
	What is the Red Seal Program?	19
	Importance of the Red Seal	20
	Red Seal Exam	20
	Red Seal Occupational Standard (RSOS)	20
	Self Test	22
3.	Learning Task 3: Becoming a Journeyperson - and New Opportunities	25
	Role of the Journeyperson in Training	25
	Mentorship	26
	Other Opportunities	28
	Self-Test	29
	Summary	33

Answer Key	35
Self-Test 1	35
Self-Test 2	36
Self-Test 3	36
Acknowledgements (1st Edition)	37
Versioning History	39

Accessibility Statement

BCcampus Open Education believes that education must be available to everyone. This means supporting the creation of free, open, and accessible educational resources. We are actively committed to increasing the accessibility and usability of the textbooks we produce.

Accessibility of This Textbook

The <u>web version of this resource</u> has been designed to meet <u>Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.0</u>, level AA. In addition, it follows all guidelines in <u>Appendix A: Checklist for Accessibility</u> of the <u>Accessibility Toolkit – 2nd Edition</u>. It includes:

- **Easy navigation**. This text has a linked table of contents and uses headings in each chapter to make navigation easy.
- Accessible links. All links use descriptive link text.

Accessibility Checklist

Element	Requirements	Pass?
Headings	Content is organized under headings and subheadings that are used sequentially.	Yes
Images	Images that convey information include alternative text descriptions. These descriptions are provided in the alt text field, in the surrounding text, or linked to as a long description.	
Images	Images and text do not rely on colour to convey information.	N/A
Images	Images that are purely decorative or are already described in the surrounding text contain empty alternative text descriptions. (Descriptive text is unnecessary if the image doesn't convey contextual content information.)	N/A
Tables	Tables include row and/or column headers that have the correct scope assigned.	Yes
Tables	Tables include a title or caption.	Yes
Tables	Tables do not have merged or split cells.	Yes
Tables	Tables have adequate cell padding.	Yes
Links	The link text describes the destination of the link.	Yes
Links	Links do not open new windows or tabs. If they do, a textual reference is included in the link text.	Yes
Links	Links to files include the file type in the link text.	N/A
Audio	All audio content includes a transcript that includes all speech content and relevant descriptions of non-speech audio and speaker names/headings where necessary.	Yes
Video	All videos include high-quality (i.e., not machine generated) captions of all speech content and relevant non-speech content.	N/A
Video	All videos with contextual visuals (graphs, charts, etc.) are described audibly in the video.	N/A
Formulas	Formulas have been created using LaTeX and are rendered with MathJax.	N/A
Font	Font size is 12 point or higher for body text.	Yes
Font	Font size is 9 point for footnotes or endnotes.	Yes
Font	Font size can be zoomed to 200% in the webbook or eBook formats.	Yes

Known Accessibility Issues and Areas for Improvement

There are currently no known accessibility issues.

Let Us Know if You are Having Problems Accessing This Book

We are always looking for ways to make our textbooks more accessible. If you have problems accessing this textbook, please contact us to let us know so we can fix the issue.

Please include the following information:

- The name of the textbook
- The location of the problem by providing a web address or page description.
- A description of the problem
- The computer, software, browser, and any assistive technology you are using that can help us diagnose and solve your issue (e.g., Windows 10, Google Chrome (Version 65.0.3325.181), NVDA screen reader)

You can contact us one of the following ways:

• Web form: BCcampus OpenEd Help

• Web form: Report an Error

This statement was last updated on November 1, 2021.

The Accessibility Checklist table was adapted from one originally created by the <u>Rebus Community</u> and shared under a <u>CC BY 4.0 License</u>.

xii Camosun College

For Students: How to Access and Use this Textbook

This textbook is available in the following formats:

- **Online webbook**. You can read this textbook online on a computer or mobile device in one of the following browsers: Chrome, Firefox, Edge, and Safari.
- **PDF**. You can download this book as a PDF to read on a computer (Digital PDF) or print it out (Print PDF).
- Mobile. If you want to read this textbook on your phone or tablet, you can use the EPUB (eReader) file.
- **HTML**. An HTML file can be opened in a browser. It has very little style so it doesn't look very nice, but some people might find it useful.

For more information about the accessibility of this textbook, see the <u>Accessibility Statement</u>.

You can access the online webbook and download any of the formats for free here: <u>Trades Access</u> <u>Common Core Competency B-4: Describe the Apprenticeship System</u>. To download the book in a different format, look for the "Download this book" drop-down menu and select the file type you want.

How can I use the different formats?

Format	Internet required?	Device	Required apps	Accessibility Features	Screen reader compatible
Online webbook	Yes	Computer, tablet, phone	An Internet browser (Chrome, Firefox, Edge, or Safari)	WCAG 2.0 AA compliant, option to enlarge text, and compatible with browser text-to-speech tools, videos with captions	Yes
PDF	No	Computer, print copy	Adobe Reader (for reading on a computer) or a printer	Ability to highlight and annotate the text. If reading on the computer, you can zoom in.	Unsure
EPUB	No	Computer, tablet, phone	eReader app (EPUB)	Option to enlarge text, change font style, size, and colour.	Unsure
HTML	No	Computer, tablet, phone	An Internet browser (Chrome, Firefox, Edge, or Safari)	WCAG 2.0 AA compliant and compatible with browser text-to-speech tools.	Yes

Tips for Using This Textbook

Search the textbook.

- If using the online webbook, you can use the search bar in the top right corner to search the entire book for a key word or phrase. To search a specific chapter, open that chapter and use your browser's search feature by hitting [Cntr] + [f] on your keyboard if using a Windows computer or [Command] + [f] if using a Mac computer.
- The **[Cntr] + [f]** and **[Command] + [f]** keys will also allow you to search a PDF, HTML, and EPUB files if you are reading them on a computer.
- If using an eBook app to read this textbook, the app should have a built-in search tool.

• Navigate the textbook.

This textbook has a table of contents to help you navigate through the book easier.
 If using the online webbook, you can find the full table of contents on the book's homepage or by selecting "Contents" from the top menu when you are in a chapter.

• Annotate the textbook.

If you like to highlight or write on your textbooks, you can do that by getting a
print copy, using the Digital PDF in Adobe Reader, or using the highlighting tools
in eReader apps.

Webbook vs. All Other Formats

The webbook includes an audio version of the text embedded at the beginning of each chapter. If you are not using the webbook to access this textbook, this content will not be included. Instead, your copy of the text will provided a link to where you can access that content online. The audio version can also be accessed online here: Line B4 Audio Book.

Even if you decide to use a PDF or a print copy to access the textbook, you can access the webbook and download any other formats at any time.

About BCcampus Open Education

<u>Trades Access Common Core Competency B-4: Describe the Apprenticeship System</u> by Camosun College was funded by BCcampus Open Education.

<u>BCcampus Open Education</u> began in 2012 as the B.C. Open Textbook Project with the goal of making post-secondary education in British Columbia more accessible by reducing students' costs through the use of open textbooks and other OER. <u>BCcampus</u> supports the post-secondary institutions of British Columbia as they adapt and evolve their teaching and learning practices to enable powerful learning opportunities for the students of B.C. BCcampus Open Education is funded by the <u>British Columbia Ministry of Advanced Education and Skills Training</u> and the <u>Hewlett Foundation</u>.

Open educational resources (OER) are teaching, learning, and research resources that, through permissions granted by the copyright holder, allow others to use, distribute, keep, or make changes to them. Our open textbooks are openly licensed using a <u>Creative Commons licence</u> and are offered in various eBook formats free of charge, or as printed books that are available at cost.

For more information about open education in British Columbia, please visit the <u>BCcampus Open Education</u> website. If you are an instructor who is using this book for a course, please fill out our <u>Adoption of an Open Textbook</u> form.

xvi Camosun College

About the Book

In an effort to make this book a flexible resource for trainers and learners, the following features are included:

- An introduction outlining the high-level goal of the Competency, and a list of objectives reflecting the skills and knowledge a person would need to achieve to fulfill this goal.
- Discrete Learning Tasks designed to help a person achieve these objectives
- Self-tests at the end of each Learning Task, designed to informally test for understanding.
- A reminder at the end of each Competency to complete a Competency test. Individual trainers are expected to determine the requirements for this test, as required.
- Throughout the textbook, there may also be links and/or references to other resources that learners will need to access, some of which are only available online.
- Notes, cautions, and warnings are identified by special symbols. A list of those symbols is provided below.

Second Edition Changes

In the Winter of 2020, work was done to revise and add content to this book that aligns both with the advancements in technology and the changing face of the skilled trades industry. These changes are predominantly focused on content in B2 through B4 and reflect the ongoing diversification of the trades, with a focus on the use of inclusive language in the text. In addition, this second edition provides more in-depth resources with regard to harassment, conflict resolution, employment-seeking strategies, mentorship, and effective communication skills. In addition, test material in the book was expanded upon to reflect the incorporation of the updated content.

History of the Trades Access Common Core Resources

The concept of identifying and creating resources for skills that are common to many trades has a long history in the Province of British Columbia. This collection of Trades Access Common Core (TACC) resources was adapted from the 15 Trades Common Core line modules co-published by the Industry Training and Apprenticeship Commission (ITAC) and the Centre for Curriculum Transfer and Technology (C2T2) in 2000-2002. Those modules were revisions of the original Common Core portion of the TRAC modules prepared by the Province of British Columbia Ministry of Post-Secondary Education in 1986. The TACC resources are still in use by a number of trades programs today and, with the permission from the Industry Training Authority (ITA), have been utilized in this project.

These open resources have been updated and realigned to match many of the line and competency titles found in the Province of BC's trades apprenticeship program outlines. A review was carried out to analyze the provincial program outlines of a number of trades, with the intent of finding common

2 Camosun College

entry-level learning tasks that could be assembled into this package. This analysis provided the template for the outline used to update the existing modules. Many images found in ITA apprentice training modules were also incorporated into these resources to create books that are similar to what students will see when they continue their chosen trades training. The project team has also taken many new photographs for this project, which are available for use in other trades training resources.

The following list of lines and competencies was generated with the goal of creating an entry-level trades training resource, while still offering the flexibility for lines to be used as stand-alone books. This flexibility—in addition to the textbook content being openly licensed—allows these resources to be used within other contexts as well. For example, instructors or institutions may incorporate these resources into foundation-level trades training programming or within an online learning management system (LMS).

- Line A Safe Work Practices
 - A-1 Control Workplace Hazards
 - A-2 Describe WorkSafeBC Regulations
 - A-3 Handle Hazardous Materials Safely
 - A-4 Describe Personal Safety Practices
 - A-5 Describe Fire Safety
- Line B Employability Skills
 - B-1 Apply Study and Learning Skills
 - B-2 Describe Expectations and Responsibilities of Employers and Employees
 - B-3 Use Interpersonal Communication Skills
 - B-4 Describe the Apprenticeship System
- Line C –Tools and Equipment
 - C-1 Describe Common Hand Tools and Their Uses
 - C-2 Describe Common Power Tools and Their Uses
 - C-3 Describe Rigging and Hoisting Equipment
 - C-4 Describe Ladders and Platforms
- Line D Organizational Skills
 - D-1 Solve Trades Mathematical Problems
 - D-2 Apply Science Concepts to Trades Applications
 - D-3 Read Drawings and Specifications
 - D-4 Use Codes, Regulations, and Standards
 - D-5 Use Manufacturer and Supplier Documentation
 - D-6 Plan Projects
- Line E Electrical Fundamentals

- E-1 Describe the Basic Principles of Electricity
- E-2 Identify Common Circuit Components and Their Symbols
- E-3 Explain Wiring Connections
- E-4 Use Multimeters

Safety Advisory

Be advised that references to the Workers' Compensation Board of British Columbia safety regulations contained within these materials do not/may not reflect the most recent Occupational Health and Safety Regulation. The current Standards and Regulation in BC can be obtained at from the WorkSafeBC website.

Please note that it is always the responsibility of any person using these materials to inform themself about the Occupational Health and Safety Regulation pertaining to their area of work.

Disclaimer

The materials in the Trades Access Common Core open textbook are for use by students and instructional staff and have been compiled from sources believed to be reliable and to represent best current opinions on these subjects. These manuals are intended to serve as a starting point for good practices and may not specify all minimum legal standards. No warranty, guarantee, or representation is made by BCcampus as to the accuracy or sufficiency of the information contained in these publications. These manuals are intended to provide basic guidelines for trade practices. Do not assume, therefore, that all necessary warnings and safety precautionary measures are contained in this module and that other or additional measures may not be required.

Symbols Legend



Important: This icon highlights important information.



Poisonous: This icon is a reminder for a potentially toxic/poisonous situation.



Resources: The resource icon highlights any required or optional resources.



Flammable: This icon is a reminder for a potentially flammable situation.



Self-test: This icon reminds you to complete a self-test.



Explosive: This icon is a reminder for a possibly explosive situation.



Safety gear: The safety gear icon is an important reminder to use protective equipment.



Electric shock: This icon is a reminder for potential electric shock.

Media Attributions

- "Important" icon by Stefan Parnarov is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.
- "Poisonous" icon by Anusha Narvekar is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.
- "R" icon by Nathan David Smith is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.
- "Flammable" icon by Anusha Narvekar is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.
- "Tick" icon by Lars Meiertoberens is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.
- "Explosive" icon by Anusha Narvekar is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.
- "Safety Gear" icon by johartcamp is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.
- "Bolt" icon by Anusha Narvekar is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.

Introduction

Click play on the following audio player to listen along as you read this section.



One or more interactive elements has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view them online here: https://opentextbc.ca/tradescommoncoreb4/?p=28#oembed-1

Apprenticeship is the most widely used system for training skilled tradespeople. The training of skilled workers dates back to as early as 18th century BC in Babylon. Training for specific trades and crafts was introduced in Europe in the Middle Ages, and from the 11th to 15th centuries, commercial, craft, and merchant guilds spread throughout Europe. During the 19th century, unions were created to protect the interests and rights of each of the trades, and the first documented apprenticeship agreement was created in 1899.

During the 20th century, National Occupational Analyses were created, and the apprenticeship system was formalized in every Canadian province. At the start of the 21st century, the major focus shifted to attracting more individuals to the trades to fill the large void that is expected to grow through 2030 because of the retirement of most baby boomers. Another focus has been on creating greater mobility between provinces for journeypersons and apprentices, and greater harmonization and a look toward a pan-Canadian vision of trades training.

This Competency provides the information necessary for you to understand the trades training system and how to explore any trades you may be interested in. Careers in the trades can be highly rewarding. Forecast shortages in skilled trades mean that there will be significant opportunities for new workers to enter many of the trades.

Learning Objectives

When you have completed the Learning Tasks in this Competency, you should be able to:

- · describe the apprenticeship system
- describe the Interprovincial Standards Red Seal Program

Resources



You will be required to reference publications and videos available online.

Media Attributions

- "Line B-4: Introduction" audio recording was generated using NaturalReader Commercial by BCcampus and is licensed under a <u>CC BY 4.0 licence</u>.
- "R" icon by Nathan David Smith is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.

1.

Learning Task 1: The Apprenticeship System

Click play on the following audio player to listen along as you read this section.



One or more interactive elements has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view them online here: https://opentextbc.ca/tradescommoncoreb4/?p=30#oembed-1

Understanding the Apprenticeship System

The apprenticeship system is a model of training that teaches the skills and competencies necessary to work in a skilled trade. It consists of both on-the-job training in industry and technical training. The individual receiving this training is called an "apprentice."

It is estimated that between 80% to 85% of all apprenticeship training occurs with the employer on the job site, and the remaining 15% to 20% is technical training with an approved training provider. Generally, the apprenticeship makes up the largest component of trades training systems in most developed countries, and this model is rapidly being adopted by many developing nations.

An apprenticeship is an agreement between an apprentice (individual), an employer, and the authority responsible for trades training, and it outlines the obligations of all three parties. The fourth often unwritten partner to the apprenticeship is the person who provides the technical training. In general, the employer is responsible for ensuring that the paid apprentice works under the supervision of a certified journeyperson who provides the apprentice with on-the- job training and mentorship in their trade. The employer is also responsible for meeting a set of conditions, including ensuring that the apprentice is officially registered with their province or territory, recognizing that further technical training is integral to the apprenticeship program, and tracking and reporting of all time spent on the job site to the relevant authority. The majority of skilled trades have three to four levels of technical training, and an apprenticeship usually lasts between three and six years. Depending on the circumstances, an apprentice may also work for more than one employer during their apprenticeship.

The role of the organization responsible for trades training and certification varies depending on the country. In Canada, trades training and certification are the responsibility of individual provinces and territories, so in effect there are 13 different trades training systems. While there are many similarities between the systems, there are also many differences based on the needs of the individual province or territory.

There are over 300 different trades in Canada; however, not all are recognized (certified) or taught in each province and territory. The majority of skilled trades fall into four different sectors: construction, transportation, manufacturing, and services. Over 40% of all skilled trades workers in Canada are in construction trades, which include electricians, carpenters, plumbers, pipefitters, and welders, to name a few.

In addition to each province and territory having its own trades system, Canada also has a standard of excellence called the "Interprovincial Standards Red Seal Program." Through this program, tradespersons obtain an endorsement on their provincial/territorial certificates by successfully completing an interprovincial exam in or following the final year of their technical training. This endorsement makes it easier for journeyed trades workers to move between provinces/territories and employers. In 2012, over 360 000 apprentices were registered in apprenticeship programs, and over 77% of these individuals were working in one of the 57 Red Seal trades (Canadian Council of Directors of Apprenticeship, 2014).

Exploring trades training

If you are considering going into a trade, it is important to understand what the job is all about. The anticipated shortage of skilled trades workers in Canada has resulted in the creation of numerous websites, videos, and brochures dedicated exclusively to learning about careers in the trades.

Another way to learn about trades programs is to contact your local trades training provider and find out what is available for you. Many colleges that offer trades training also offer short exploratory programs into the various trades they teach at their institution, or special initiatives such as entry-level Indigenous Peoples Trades Training, and Women in the Trades. They also offer information sessions, campus visits, or opportunities to talk one-on-one with an instructor or student in a specific trade. Check out the website of your local training provider or call them to get more information.

Many high schools also offer exploration into trades training, dual-credential programming, and student apprenticeship programming—along with opportunities for visits to local educational institutions and assistance with career programming.

If there is an industry that you'd really like to get into, you might also want to contact an employer or meet with individuals already working in that career to find out first-hand what working in the trade is like—both the rewards and challenges. This can provide you with a better overview of what to expect.

The following are just a few resources you should look at to further explore trades training.

Websites

- Careers in Trades
- BC Industry Training Authority—Youth Page
- BC Industry Training Authority—Trade Programs
- BC Industry Training Authority Women in Trades
- BC Industry Training Authority Indigenous Peoples in Trades

- Skills/Compétences Canada
- BC Centre for Women In The Trades
- Trades Training BC
- Supports and Resources: BC Industry Training Authority
- Skills Exploration 10-12: BC Industry Training Authority [PDF]
- It's Your Life: Explore a Career in the Resource Trades

Publications

- Apprentice Guidebook: BC Industry Training Authority [PDF]
- Trades Guide: BC Industry Training Authority [PDF]
- Trades Apprenticeship Information: BC Industry Training Authority [PDF]

Jurisdictional training authorities

In addition to researching the trades certified in your own province, you might want to look at those trades that are recognized in other provinces and territories. The following is a list of all organizations responsible for trades training in Canada:

- Alberta Apprenticeship and Industry Training
- BC Industry Training Authority (ITA)
- Apprenticeship Manitoba
- New Brunswick Apprenticeship and Occupational Certification
- Newfoundland and Labrador Apprenticeship and Trades Certification
- Northwest Territories Apprenticeship, Trades, and Occupation Certification
- Nova Scotia Apprenticeship Agency
- Nunavut Training and Apprenticeship Opportunities
- Ontario College of Trades
- Prince Edward Island—Workforce and Advanced Training
- Emploi Quebec
- Saskatchewan Apprenticeship and Trade Certification Commission
- Yukon Education and Schools

Trades Training in British Columbia

In British Columbia, the Industry Training Authority (ITA) is responsible for leading and coordinating the skilled trades training and credentialling system. The ITA also provides support and customer service to apprentices, employers, and industry. It sets program standards, maintains credential records,

and issues the highly regarded Red Seal and Certificate of Qualifications. British Columbia is one of the few provinces that use the Interprovincial Red Seal exam as their final level exam for specific trades.

It is well worth your time to check out the ITA website with its vast amount of available information. For each trade that is certified in the province, there is information on the program, interprovincial exams, the process for recognizing prior learning experience, and current jobs available in the specific field in British Columbia.

You can find the information about a trade you are interested in here: <u>BC Industry Training Authority</u>

You can also look at the detailed program outline for a trade by conducting a simple search on the ITA website using the name of the trade and the words "program outline." The detailed outline lists line by line all competencies required for each level of the training program.

To view an example of a program outline for the Steamfitter/Pipefitter program, visit: Steamfitter/Pipefitter: BC Industry Training Authority

Essential Skills and Trades Training

The Government of Canada (and many other nations) recognizes nine essential skills as being integral to creating a competitive and productive workforce. These skills are used in different combinations and levels for every occupation, and they are the foundation that you need to learn other new skills.

The nine essential skills are:

- 1. reading
- 2. document use
- 3. numeracy (math and working with numbers)
- 4. writing
- 5. oral communication
- 6. working with others
- 7. digital technology (formerly computer skills)
- 8. thinking

9. continuing learning

While most people possess some of these skills, they may not possess the combination of skills at the level required to succeed or excel in the job they are performing or would like to get into. As well, like any skill, if you don't use it, your performance may be less than expected on the job.

Three of these essential skills have been identified as being critical to success in technical trades training, namely:

- reading
- numeracy (math and working with numbers)
- · document use

You may wonder what essential skills have to do with you and why it is so important to make sure that your skills, particularly in these three areas, are at the required level before you begin your technical training. Studies show that apprentices with the required essential skills levels:

- are eight times more likely to pass their technical exams
- are likely to make more money on the job
- learn faster and are more likely to enjoy their job
- are less likely to injure themselves or others at work



Read the following documents to find out why essential skills are so important in the trades:

- Why Essential Skills Matter in the Trades [PDF]
- Essential Skills: BC Industry Training Authority

There are numerous types of standardized formal and informal assessments to determine the levels of your essential skills in these three areas. In British Columbia, you can take the free online assessment that the ITA has created to determine your current level of essential skills.

Once you complete the assessment, the system will generate a report for you that compares your results to the requirements for the trade you are interested in. It also provides you with information on how to improve your performance in specific areas where needed. You may log on to this site on your own or through your training organization or employer.

To find out how your essential skills match up to the requirements of a specific trade, visit: Registration to use ITA Essential Skills Tools: BC Industry Training Authority

After you've had the time to work on some of your skill areas, retake the test and see if you have improved.

Other provinces have similar essential skills assessments that you can access online or in print.

How to Start an Apprenticeship, and Registration

Finding an apprenticeship has a lot to do with your personal connections and your ability to be proactive and look for possible industry sponsors. It may be easier for individuals with family and friends in the trades to leverage these connections, but even if you don't have this advantage you can still actively look for a potential sponsor. The following are a few ideas on how to find an industry sponsor:

1. Remember that in this period of skilled labour shortages many employers are actively looking for individuals to take on as apprentices. This matching service may also help you:



Apprentice Job Match: BC Industry Training Authority

- 2. Do your research. Find out what companies in your area hire apprentices in your field. Call and ask to meet with someone from the company or talk to them over the phone to find out what they are looking for in an apprentice and if they are aware of any upcoming openings in the company. Be prepared before you contact an employer. They are often very busy and knowing the questions you'd like to ask ahead of time goes a long way to showing that you are respectful of their time. If you set a date or time to meet with an employer, be prompt and always remember to send a thank-you note or email afterwards to acknowledge the time they have given you. Remember to take notes during these conversations so that you can follow up on any leads or contact the company and individual again at a later date.
- 3. A number of trades programs don't require you to have an industry sponsor to complete the initial levels of training. These programs are known by a number of different names, including Foundation, Pre-Apprenticeship, and Apprenticeship (no industry sponsor). In these types of programs, the training institution takes on the role of an industry sponsor and the additional hours students spend in the shops under the supervision of their instructors (all journeymen) count toward their required apprenticeship hours. Upon successful completion, many of these programs provide the equivalency of Level 1 of apprenticeship training. For

more information on these programs visit:



You can also find out where these programs are offered in British Columbia's public post-secondary education providers by visiting:



- 4. If you are in a Foundation program, take advantage of every opportunity to meet with potential sponsors and find out more about their needs for apprenticeships. It is important to keep in mind that when you are in a Foundation program, your instructor is taking on the role of a journeyperson and training and evaluating your practical work in the same way as would be done in industry. This training is recognized as work experience and counts toward the hours required for your apprenticeship. It also provides you with equivalency to a level of apprenticeship training in most trades. Your program may also offer work experience in industry. Often, employers in search of new apprentices will visit training institutions or let your instructors know that they are looking for new apprentices.
- 5. Keep current. Trades are a hot topic in the news, print, and online, and new or existing companies' training needs are often the source of stories and may provide you with additional leads.

Once you have an apprenticeship lined up, the most important thing to do is register with the ITA (or the provincial/territorial counterpart outside of BC). To do so you need information on your industry sponsor as well as your own contact information. You can complete the necessary paperwork online or do it manually and mail it in.

You can obtain more information on registering your apprenticeship in British Columbia at: Forms: How to Register: BC Industry Training Authority

Apprenticeship Roles and Responsibilities

The role of the apprentice is to:

- Read and make sure that they understand all of the requirements of their specific trade.
- Keep an ongoing dialogue with the journeyperson responsible for their training and any other individuals assisting with their apprenticeship to make sure they are getting feedback on their performance, including their strengths and areas where improvement can be made.
- Meet with their employer to discuss and determine the best time to arrange for technical training each year for the length of their apprenticeship. In general, most trades have three or four levels of apprenticeship training. Remember that technical training opportunities may be very limited. If possible, register ahead of time for the next two to three years of technical training so that you know that your place has been reserved. Also keep in mind that technical training for some trades may be available from a limited number of training suppliers and are not necessarily located in the city where you live.
 - You may need to make plans to travel to another city to complete your apprenticeship training. If you have family or other commitments, it may require some time and effort on your part to make the necessary arrangements ahead of time. Advance planning will help reduce your stress level and make you better prepared to complete your training.
- Keep track of their hours on the job by monitoring the record in the ITA database and bringing to the employer's attention any discrepancies. On average, employers will update an apprentice's record every 6 to 12 months.

The role of the employer/sponsor is to:

- Teach the apprentice the skills required for the trade under the supervision of a certified journeyperson or other qualified individual as approved by the ITA.
- Provide the apprenticeship with mentorship and constructive feedback on their performance.
- Work with the apprentice to determine the best time to schedule their technical training each year.
- Track the apprentice's hours and report them every 6 to 12 months. If there are any discrepancies, they must review them with the apprentice and make any changes as necessary.
- Recommend the apprentice for certification when all of their program requirements are complete (technical training certification and hours of experience).

The role of the ITA is to:

- Manage BC's industry trades training and certification system, and work with employers, employees, industry, labour, training providers, and governments to increase opportunities in the trades. This includes:
 - managing apprenticeships, setting program standards, issuing credentials, and increasing opportunities in the trades
 - providing information and assistance online, by phone, or in person to apprentices, employers, and other individuals and organizations associated with trades training
 - registering apprentices and employer/sponsors, maintaining apprentice records, overseeing exams and assessments, and funding training at public and private

 setting standards for skilled trades training programs, training provider requirements, and for challenging certification (when work hours and experience count toward certification)

The role of the training provider is to:

- Teach the apprentices according to the competencies detailed in the program description for their program.
- Provide apprentices with feedback on their performance and prepare them to take the level exams or Interprovincial Red Seal exam at the end of their level of technical training.
- Work with employers as required to assist in registering and scheduling apprentices for their programs.

Scheduling Your Technical Training

The following are tips on how to schedule your technical training:

- Work with your employer to identify the best periods in which to take your technical training. This will ensure that your employer has sufficient employees on site or can make alternate arrangements to get the additional staff needed. Since larger employers may have numerous apprentices, planning will also allow them to stagger technical training across the year.
- Find out ahead of time if any financial support will be coming from your employer. You may have discussed this at your time of hire, and you may need to revisit it.
- Try to schedule multiple years of technical training at the onset. The availability of technical training can be very limited in some programs, and your ability to schedule multiple years of training will allow you to complete longer-range plans.
- Remember that you may have to travel to take your training. Find out where the various approved training providers are for your program so that you can consider this issue when you discuss your training with your employer, family, and friends. It will also allow you to prepare for any additional financial costs with studying away from home or any arrangements you may need to make if you have a family to support.
- Try to keep on schedule with training. For each year of your apprenticeship you should be doing one level of training. If you fall off schedule, try to get back on as soon as possible.
- If you've changed your employer/sponsor, make sure all the paperwork necessary is completed with the ITA prior to starting your next level of technical training.
- If you haven't scheduled your technical training and need to as soon as possible, check with the potential training providers and see if they can add you to a waitlist for upcoming training. You may be provided with only a few days' warning before a place opens up, so make sure that you've discussed this with your employer and any other individuals who would be affected by your quick departure from the job site or home if training is out of town.

• Do your homework and prepare financially for your studies and be aware of the different sources of funding that can assist you during your technical training and how and when to apply for them.

Financial Support for Training

Access to financial support is often an integral part of a decision to pursue further education.

It's important to know the sources of funding that may be available to you. Remember to think outside the box to find all of the different funding sources that may be available to you and your particular circumstances.

Two very good starting points to look at for funding available for trades training in British Columbia are the Trades Training BC site and the provincial government's Apprenticeship Training support page:

- Financial Assistance Options for BC Trades Students: Trades Training BC
- Apprenticeship Training Supports: WorkBC

Different types of trades training are eligible for different types of support. For example, longer-term Pre-Apprentice or Foundation trades training at a community college may be eligible for regular provincial student loan programs as well as institutionally specific scholarships and bursaries. While apprentices are not eligible for these resources, they are eligible for other types of support, including employment insurance during their studies.

Another source of information about apprenticeship support is the Government of Canada webpage: Support for Apprentices: Government of Canada

Apprentices should also find out if their employers offer any kind of training support. If you did not discuss this at the time of hiring, ask your employer now if any kind of professional development funds are available and can be used toward your studies. Depending on your employer, this can range from no financial support to full financial support, covering the costs of your studies and textbooks upon successful completion of your program. In addition, some employers also link successful completion of an apprenticeship level to an increase in salary or a bonus, so it is worth finding out this information from your employer ahead of time.

High school students entering a trade may also be eligible for prizes and scholarships that they can use toward their post-secondary studies. Check with your school to find out what is available.

Occasionally, there are also federal and provincial initiatives that support trades training for individuals meeting specific criteria. The trades training department of your local institution can advise you of any initiatives that may currently be available and let you know if you satisfy the eligibility criteria.

Apprentice Interprovincial Mobility

There are apprentice mobility protocols and agreements in place between the provinces that enable apprentices to pursue jobs anywhere in Canada without interruption to their continuum of training.

This mobility option was made possible as a result of the Harmonization Initiative launched in 2013 to substantively align apprenticeship systems across Canada by making training requirements more consistent. As part of this work, the Canadian Council of the Directors of Apprenticeship (CCDA) identified four main harmonization priorities in consultation with industry and training stakeholders:

- Use of Red Seal trade name
- Consistent total training hours (in-school and on-the-job)
- Same number of training levels
- Consistent sequencing of training content at each training level

For more detailed information regarding apprentices moving temporarily or permanently transferring from their home jurisdiction to another, visit the ITABC Apprentice Mobility website.



Now complete the Learning Task Self-Test.

Self-Test

Self-Test 1

- 1. The apprenticeship system is a model of training that teaches the skills and competencies necessary to work in a skilled trade.
 - a. True

	b.	False
2.	An apprent	ciceship consists of on-the-job training only.
	a.	True
	b.	False
3.	What is the	e estimated percentage of the training of apprentices that occurs on the job site?
	a.	50% to 70%
	b.	75% to 80%
	с.	80% to 85%
	d.	90% to 100%
4.	What perce	entage of apprenticeship training is theoretical and takes place with a training provider/ool?
	a.	45% to 50%
	b.	35% to 40%
	с.	25% to 30%
	d.	15% to 20%
5.	Apprentice	ship training makes up the largest part of the trades training system in Canada.
	a.	True
	b.	False
6.	Within whi	ich jurisdiction does Canadian trades training fall?
	a.	Federal
	b.	Provincial/territorial
	с.	Private accreditation bureaus and unions
	d.	Combination of federal and provincial/territorial
7.		different trades are there in Canada (though not all are recognized, certified, or taught wince and territory)?
	a.	100
	b.	150
	c.	200
	d.	Over 300

8. Within which four sectors do the majority of trades fall?

a. Services, fabrication, construction, and manufacturingb. Construction, transportation, heavy duty, and hospitality

- c. Construction, services, manufacturing, and transportation
- d. Manufacturing, construction, telecommunications, and electrical
- 9. There are many free sources of information on trades training available in Canada.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 10. The Industry Training Authority (ITA) is responsible for leading and coordinating the skilled trades training and credentialling system in British Columbia.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 11. There are 11 essential skills recognized by the Government of Canada.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 12. Essential skills are used in different combinations and levels for every occupation, and they are the foundation skills you need in order to learn new skills.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 13. Which of the following are considered essential skills?
 - a. Reading, document use, numeracy
 - b. Writing, oral communication, working with others
 - c. Digital technology, thinking, and continuous learning
 - d. All of the above
- 14. What are the three skills that have been identified as critical to being successful in technical trades training?
 - a. Reading, numeracy, and document use
 - b. Math, thinking, and continuous learning
 - c. Reading, listening, and working with others
 - d. Document use, math, and manual dexterity
- 15. In addition to formal assessments, there are numerous essential skills self-assessments available on the Web.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 16. Apprenticeships are found for trades apprentices by the trades training provider.

- a. True
- b. False
- 17. Once you have found an apprenticeship, it is important that you and your employer register with the ITA (in British Columbia) or your provincial/territorial equivalent.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 18. Which of the following is not included as part of an apprenticeship?
 - a. Complete technical training
 - b. Working directly under a journeyperson (or equivalent)
 - c. Making decisions about which job sites you will work on for your employer
 - d. Keeping track of hours on the job and reporting any discrepancies to your employer
- 19. What is the role of the employer in trades apprenticeships?
 - a. Teach the apprentice skills required for the job, provide supervision, and mentor and recommend apprentices for certification
 - b. Report apprenticeship hours to the ITA every 6 to 12 months and determine the best time for the apprentice to be absent from the company to complete technical training
 - c. All of the above
 - d. None of the above
- 20. What is the principal role of the training provider?
 - a. Teaching apprentices theory and best practices in the shop
 - b. Creating trades programs that align with the National Occupational Analysis
 - c. Creating individual programs that best support the needs of individual learners
 - d. Teaching apprentices based on the ITA's program outline for their trade, and provide them with feedback
- 21. What is the best way to schedule your future years of technical training?
 - a. Wait until your employer makes the decision and books the training for you.
 - b. Contact the institution of your choice and pre-book all years of training at the time you choose.
 - c. Wait for your training institution to contact you regarding the need to take your next level of training.
 - d. Be proactive and discuss the subsequent levels of technical training needed and how/ when they should be scheduled.
- 22. For most trades there are ample apprenticeship courses offered and you can usually get into the institution of your choice.

- a. True
- b. False
- 23. All employers pay the costs of technical training and books.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 24. It is your responsibility to research the funding available for your apprenticeship training program, complete the necessary applications/forms, and ensure that you have sufficient funding to complete your apprenticeship training.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 25. A number of trades programs don't require you to have an industry sponsor to complete the initial levels of training. Which of the following is NOT an example of one of these programs?
 - a. Foundation
 - b. Entry-level
 - c. Pre-Apprenticeship
 - d. Apprenticeship (no industry sponsor).

See the Answer Key in the back matter of the textbook for self-test answers.

Media Attributions

- "<u>Line B-4: Learning Task 1</u>" audio recording was generated by BCcampus using NaturalReader Commercial based on text written by Camosun College and is licensed under a <u>CC BY 4.0 licence</u>.
- "R" icon by Nathan David Smith is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.
- "Tick" icon by Lars Meiertoberens is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.

Learning Task 2: Describe the Red Seal Program

Click play on the following audio player to listen along as you read this section.



One or more interactive elements has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view them online here: https://opentextbc.ca/tradescommoncoreb4/?p=32#oembed-1

What is the Red Seal Program?

The Red Seal program is the Canadian standard of excellence for skilled trades, setting common standards to assess the skills of tradespersons across Canada. The program has been in existence for over 50 years and is administered by each of the designated provincial and territorial apprenticeship authorities under the guidance of the Canadian Council of Directors of Apprenticeship (CCDA). The formal name of this program is the Interprovincial Standards Red Seal Program.

The Red Seal is not a certificate. It is an endorsement that is affixed to a provincial or territorial trades certificate upon successful completion of all provincial requirements and the Red Seal exam. It is available in 57 different trades, and over 625,000 tradespeople in Canada have obtained the Red Seal Endorsement (RSE) to date. The top 10 Red Seal trades based on endorsements issued to date are:

- 1. construction electrician
- 2. automotive service technician
- 3. carpenter
- 4. industrial mechanic (millwright)
- 5. plumber
- 6. welder
- 7. heavy-duty equipment technician
- 8. cook
- 9. steamfitter/pipefitter
- 10. truck and transportation mechanic



A listing of all Red Seal trades can be viewed at: Red Seal Trades

Importance of the Red Seal

The Red Seal is important because it provides a standard of competency that is recognized across Canada and is respected in a number of other countries. It denotes that an individual has the knowledge and skill sets for accomplishing work in their trade.

Once you have received your Red Seal endorsement, you may use the RSE acronym on your résumé, business cards, and promotional information.

Red Seal Exam

The Red Seal exam is administered to determine whether apprentices and experienced tradespeople meet the Canadian Red Seal standards. The examinations are developed for each of the Red Seal trades with the assistance of industry trade experts from across the country and are based on the Red Seal Occupational Standard (RSOS). (More information on the RSOS is provided below.)

To qualify to write a Red Seal exam, an individual must have fulfilled all requirements set out by their provincial/territorial apprenticeship authority. The criteria for eligibility to write the exam differ from one trade to another and depend on the type of applicant (e.g., apprentice, trade qualifier/challenger, journeyperson).

The Red Seal Endorsement Official Mark on a provincial/territorial trades certificate signifies that you have completed the Canadian recognized standard of competency in your trade. In some cases (e.g., in British Columbia), the Red Seal exam is taken in lieu of a provincial exam in the final level of the apprenticeship training. In other provinces or territories the exam may be taken in addition to other provincial requirements.

To receive your Red Seal endorsement, you must achieve a mark of 70% or higher on the Red Seal exam. If you are unsuccessful in passing the exam, you must wait a set period of time before your next attempt. The waiting period is determined by the individual province or territory.

Should you be unsuccessful a second time, you will be required to follow a course of study as defined by your jurisdiction (province or territory) prior to any subsequent attempt.

Red Seal Occupational Standard (RSOS)

The first National Conference on Apprenticeship in Trades and Industries, held in Ottawa in 1952,

recommended that the federal government be requested to cooperate with provincial and territorial apprenticeship committees and officials in preparing analyses of a number of skilled occupations. The Red Seal Occupational Standard (RSOS) document for each trade is the basis for the Red Seal Program. Every RSOS provides a comprehensive analysis of a trade completed by a committee of industry experts, and is representative of all jurisdictions. The standards have the following objectives:

- to describe and group the tasks performed by skilled workers;
- to identify which tasks are performed in every province and territory;
- to develop instruments for use in the preparation of Interprovincial Red Seal Examinations and assessment tools for apprenticeship and certification authorities;
- to develop common tools for apprenticeship on-the-job and technical training in Canada;
- to facilitate the mobility of apprentices and skilled workers in Canada;
- to supply employers, employees, associations, industries, training institutions and governments with analyses of occupations.

Structure of the standard

To facilitate understanding of the occupation, the RSOS standards contain the following sections:

- Description of the trade: An overview of the trade's duties, work environment, job requirements, similar occupations and career progression
- Essential Skills Summary: An overview of how each of the 9 essential skills is applied in the trade
- Trends in the trade: Some of the trends identified by industry as being the most important for workers in the trade
- Industry Expected Performance: description of the expectations regarding the level of performance of the tasks, including information related to specific codes, regulations and standards that must be observed
- Language Requirements: description of the language requirements for working and studying in this trade in Canada
- Pie Chart: a graph which depicts the national percentages of exam questions assigned to the major work activities
- Task Matrix and Examination Weightings: a chart which outlines graphically the major work activities, tasks and sub-tasks of this standard and their respective exam weightings
- Major Work Activity (MWA): the largest division within the standard that is comprised of a detailed description of each of the trade tasks and their skills.

At the end of each RSOS is a series of appendices that include:

- a list of acronyms
- all of the tools and equipment required for a trade

• a glossary of terms associated with the trade

The Red Seal Occupational Standard (RSOS) was introduced in 2015, and they replaced the previous National Occupational Analysis (NOA) as each trades standard was updated.

Other RSOS products

The RSOS includes features that support the development of informational, learning, and assessment products that encouraged greater consistency in provincial and territorial apprenticeship programs. Some of the elements that were previously in the NOA have been recreated as separate informational learning or assessment products. Some of these additional products that are available for each trade may include:

- Trade Profile, a quick snapshot of all trade activities in the standard.
- Ellis Chart compares apprenticeship programs across all Canadian jurisdictions
- Curriculum Outline, which organizes the knowledge elements of the RSOS and provides recommendations for training levels.
- On-the-job Training Guide
- Essential Skills Outline, the most important essential skills for each sub-task have also been identified
- Red Seal exam breakdown, provides a list of the number of questions in each task and subtask
- Exam sample questions



To view an example of all of the resources available, visit the designated trades web site and select a trade: Red Seal Trades



Now complete the Learning Task Self-Test.

Self Test

Self-Test 2

1. The Red Seal program is the Canadian standard of excellence for skilled trades in Canada.

- a. True
- b. False
- 2. The Red Seal program does not set common standards to assess the skills of tradespersons across Canada.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 3. The Red Seal is a certification issued by the Canadian government.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 4. How many Red Seal trades exist to date?
 - a. 10 to 20
 - b. 50 to 60
 - c. More than 100
 - d. All trades are Red Seal
- 5. All provinces and territories use the Red Seal exam in their final level of apprenticeship training for Red Seal trades.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 6. When do apprentices receive the Red Seal endorsement?
 - a. After they have passed the exam with a grade of 70% or higher
 - b. Automatically upon completion of the final level exam of the apprenticeship training
 - c. After they have successfully completed the Red Seal exam and all other requirements for their apprenticeship
 - d. After they have successfully completed the Red Seal exam and the score has been passed on to their jurisdictional authority
- 7. The Red Seal Occupational Standard (RSOS) is a comprehensive analysis of a trade completed by industry experts in the trades and with representation from all Canadian provinces and territories.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 8. What section of an RSOS depicts the national percentages of exam questions assigned to the major work activities?
 - a. Trade Profile
 - b. Essential Skills Summary

- c. Trends in the trade
- d. Pie chart
- 9. An Ellis Chart for a trade compares a number of different aspects of trades training and delivery between which regions?
 - a. Between Canada and the United States
 - b. Between North America and the rest of the world
 - c. Between Canadian provinces and territories
 - d. Between Canadian regions (e.g., Atlantic Canada, Western Canada)
- 10. Which of the following is NOT included in the appendix of an RSOS?
 - a. List of acronyms
 - b. List of tools and equipment
 - c. Dress code
 - d. Glossary of terms

See the **Answer Key** in the back matter of the textbook for self-test answers.

Media Attributions

- "<u>Line B-4: Learning Task 2</u>" audio recording was recorded by BCcampus based on text written by Camosun College and licensed under a <u>CC BY 4.0 licence</u>.
- "R" icon by Nathan David Smith is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.
- "Tick" icon by Lars Meiertoberens is licensed under a CC BY 3.0 licence.

3.

Learning Task 3: Becoming a Journeyperson - and New Opportunities

Click play on the following audio player to listen along as you read this section.



One or more interactive elements has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view them online here: https://opentextbc.ca/tradescommoncoreb4/?p=34#oembed-1

Once you have completed the final level of apprenticeship for your trade, including all of the work hours required on site, you will become a certified journeyperson. If you are completing your apprenticeship in British Columbia in an applicable trade, upon successful completion of the Red Seal exam you will also receive your Red Seal endorsement (RSE).

To take on the role of a journeyperson you may also need further education. This may include individual learning, such as becoming aware of all of the recent changes and trends in the industry and acquiring in-depth knowledge of the apprenticeship's training program and what needs to be taught in the workplace at each level of the apprenticeship. As a journeyperson, you may also want to acquire additional formal training to become better acquainted with mentoring and coaching of an individual; for example by completing a continuing education course in leadership.

As you will have noted from looking at the Red Seal Occupation Standard (RSOS), all trades require some degree of continual learning to keep up with changes in the industry brought on by new technologies (products or tools), changes in code, or new government legislation. In addition, the use of communication technologies continues to grow rapidly and affect the trades. This includes use of smart phone applications, social media, Web applications, and business-related software and hardware, particularly for individuals who are self-employed or own a small trade-related company. Your ability to keep up with these new demands will ensure that you keep competitive in your field.

Role of the Journeyperson in Training

A journeyperson is knowledgeable about all aspects of their trade. One of the roles of the journeyperson is to assist in the work-based training of new apprentices. The assignment of an apprentice to a journeyperson for mentoring or coaching will be the decision of your employer.

The size of a company will determine the role a journeyperson will have in training a new apprentice. In large companies, the training of an apprentice may be a team approach, with individuals in the firm

taking on different orientation and/or training. In smaller companies, this role may fall largely in the hands of the journeyperson and their supervisor.

The duties assigned to a journeyperson may include assistance with or responsibility for:

- teaching apprentices all aspects of the trade
- orienting new apprentices to the workplace, including advising on any company policies and procedures that may need to be followed on the job site
- informing apprentices about the company's expectations and what they will receive
- helping apprentices better understand their trade, the tools and equipment they use, and safety standards
- · developing a training plan for the apprentice
- supervising, mentoring, and/or coaching the apprentice
- providing constructive feedback in all aspects of the job, including priorities and time management
- helping apprentices develop strategies to improve in areas where their skills may fall short, and monitoring their progress in these areas
- · providing feedback to the supervisor on the progress of apprentices
- evaluating apprentices' roles in the workplace for certification

Mentorship

Mentorship is an important part of being a journeyperson, as you supervise and train apprentices you also take on the role of mentor in their training journey. Good mentorship is essential to the success of apprentices. Some of the benefits of mentorship are, higher quality of work, reduced workplace injuries, increased productivity, decreased number of mistakes, improved workplace morale, and higher levels of employee satisfaction. If you experience good mentorship in your training, you are more likely to pass that experience along to your future apprentices. Mentorship can exist in many ways in the trades, it can be between a journeyperson and apprentice, between two apprentices of different levels or between two journeypersons of differing levels of experience. Developing good mentorship skills is deeply rooted in effective communication and listening.

Qualities of a good mentor

- **Promotes safe work**, this is important, modeling the safe way to do things has a direct impact on reduction in workplace injuries and near misses.
- **High standards for quality are** also important, it shows how important it is to have a sense of pride in your work and that when work is completed it is done to the highest possible standard.
- Hard working, this models work ethic to apprentices.

- **Positive attitude,** helps to engage apprentices, promote learning and keep morale high.
- **Enjoys teaching,** one of the most important qualities that a mentor could have, sharing their knowledge and skills with their mentee should be exciting and fun. Allowing the mentee to see that their mentor is passionate about sharing their knowledge helps to keep the mentee engaged in learning.
- **Good leader,** someone who demonstrates calm and composed leadership, can accept feedback and suggestions from others, intervenes when necessary, leads by example, allows others to take initiative, is focused on the goals of the team, praises others for their successes and provides constructive feedback on mistakes.
- **Patient and empathetic,** understanding that sometimes it takes longer to learn a skill and identifying and removing barriers to learning with patience along with empathy for systemic, structural or personal barriers that an apprentice may face is crucial to their mental well-being which correlates directly to their long-term success.
- Takes the time to teach and explain, even with deadlines and performance targets a mentor
 who is willing to take time to teach new skills and when necessary review and repeat to
 reinforce learning is much more likely to have successful learning outcomes with an
 apprentice than someone who is unwilling to take the necessary time to develop a skill with
 their mentee. Good communication skills and listening skills are essential to this for a
 mentor.
- **Targets multiple learning styles,** all people learn in slightly different ways, being able to present information to your mentee in a blend of visual, auditory and hands on will help to find their specific learning style.

A good mentor can have a positive impact on an apprentice's success, just as a bad mentor can have a negative impact on an apprentice's success. As a mentee it is important to advocate for good mentorship for yourself during your apprenticeship. This may mean seeking mentorship outside of your workplace or from a different journeyperson at your workplace. A mentoring relationship is two sided and while the mentor generally does the teaching, the mentee must also bring their own set of skills to the table to be effectively mentored.

Qualities of a good mentee

- **Dedicated to working safely,** a commitment to safety allows others to feel safe in working with you and in your safety.
- **Passionate about the trade,** this is directly connected to job satisfaction, if you don't enjoy the work you're doing it is hard to be satisfied. Showing genuine enthusiasm and excitement for the work you do illustrates this passion for your trade.
- **Strong desire to learn,** showing interest and initiative in learning new skills shows your mentor that you are committed to learning and growth.
- **Good communication skills,** knowing how to communicate and listen effectively goes a long way in ensuring that you get the most out of your mentorship. Other important communication skills include, problem solving, conflict resolution and engaging in respectful communication.

- **Asks questions frequently,** this is crucial, if you do not know something or need clarification you must be confident enough to ask your mentor. Asking questions should be encouraged by a good mentor, it allows the mentee to feel knowledgeable and confident in the skills they are acquiring and prevents unnecessary mistakes from occurring.
- **Requests feedback, it's** as simple as asking "How did I do?" This allows the mentee to have an ongoing assessment of their progress and helps to identify areas that may need improvement.
- Values constructive criticism and views it as a learning opportunity, it's not personal when a mentor provides constructive criticism of work, the mentor's goal is to help the continued development of the mentee's skills and this involves honest critique of work done. As a mentee constructive criticism should be viewed as a way to continue to improve and grow skill sets in areas that the mentor may identify need additional work.

Remember, mentorships are a two-way street, they require respectful communication, good listening skills, a desire to teach and be taught and a good fit between mentor and mentee. The basis of the apprenticeship system is founded on the idea of skills taught by mentorship. Think about it this way, as an apprentice, 95% or more of your training will occur on the job. The most significant amount of skills and training you will acquire will be from your mentors, and as a journeyperson you will bestow your knowledge and skills upon your future mentees. This is how information has been passed down for centuries and is important for ensuring knowledge is not lost between generations.

Other Opportunities

As a journeyperson, you will be exposed to many different opportunities that you can pursue related to your trade and career path. The following are just a few that you may wish to explore further:

- Many journeypersons hold multiple trade credentials and additional certifications. This allows them to perform multiple functions on job sites and increases their marketability. For example, a metal fabricator may hold a welding ticket, allowing for more versatility.
- Some journeypersons use their credentials to travel and find work in other Canadian provinces or internationally. They may do so by looking for opportunities through employment agencies or by joining large international organizations where travel is one of the expectations of the job.
- Some journeypersons work as subject matter experts for industry, associations, and unions, including working in the role of safety inspectors.
- Many journeypersons pursue supervisory or management positions. In order to do so they may need to take formal education in areas related to administration or business.
- Many journeypersons are entrepreneurial and start their own small businesses.
- Some journeypersons take on positions related to trades training at public or private institutions. Doing this requires pursuing the appropriate qualifications (see below).

All of the opportunities listed above may necessitate acquiring additional information or formal training. For example, the qualifications for teaching a trade usually include:

- Red Seal or highest level of certification for a trade
- five or more years of experience working in that trade in industry
- previous teaching and/or supervisory experience
- extensive knowledge about the trade
- knowledge and skills necessary to instruct curriculum
- · excellent language skills, written and oral
- effective interpersonal skills
- provincial instructor's diploma (completed or in-progress) an asset
- desire for ongoing professional development
- ability to work as part of a team
- computer literacy
- criminal record check for positions that include working with vulnerable populations

Completing an apprenticeship can open up many different opportunities. The trades are a rewarding and fulfilling career. It doesn't matter which trade you enter; the path continues past the journeyperson certification.



Now complete the Learning Task Self-Test.

Self-Test

Self-Test 3

- 1. Once you have completed all of the requirements for your apprenticeship (technical training and hours in the trade), you become a certified journeyperson.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 2. After you become a journeyperson, you have acquired all of the knowledge needed for the trade and there is no need for additional training.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 3. One of the roles a journeyperson may take on for an employer is mentoring or coaching new apprentices.
 - a. True

- b. False
- 4. There are many different employment opportunities for journeypersons and skilled trades workers.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 5. Which of the following are benefits of mentorship:
 - A. Higher quality of work
 - B. Reduced workplace injuries.
 - C. Increased productivity

- D. Decreased mistakes
- E. Improved workplace morale
- F. Employee satisfaction

- a. A, C, D, F
- b. A, B, C, E, F
- c. A, B, F
- d. All of them
- 6. Modeling the safe way to do things has a direct impact on reduction in workplace injuries and near misses.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 7. As an apprentice, about 50% of your training will occur on the job.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 8. Which mentorship strategy allows the mentee to have an ongoing assessment of their progress and helps to identify areas that may need improvement?
 - a. Promoting safe work
 - b. Working hard
 - c. Being a good leader
 - d. Requesting feedback
- 9. Showing interest and initiative in learning new skills is an example of which mentorship strategy?
 - a. Working hard
 - b. Strong desire to learn
 - c. Promoting safe work
 - d. Asking questions
- 10. It is NOT important to be passionate about the trade you are in to foster success.

- a. True
- b. False

See the **Answer Key** in the back matter of the textbook for self-test answers.

Media Attributions

- "<u>Line B-4: Learning Task 3</u>" audio recording was generated by BCcampus using NaturalReader Commercial based on text written by Camosun College and is licensed under a <u>CC BY 4.0 licence</u>.
- "<u>Tick</u>" icon by <u>Lars Meiertoberens</u> is licensed under a <u>CC BY 3.0 licence</u>.

Summary

Click play on the following audio player to listen along as you read this section.



One or more interactive elements has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view them online here: https://opentextbc.ca/tradescommoncoreb4/?p=36#oembed-1

In this Competency we have provided you with an overview of the apprenticeship system and the process to obtain your Red Seal as a tradesperson. We have described the supports, initiatives, and opportunities available for trades training, the process of registering for an apprenticeship in BC, the roles and responsibilities of all parties in the apprenticeship system, and the financial supports available for training. We have also provided an overview of the Canadian Red Seal program, including information on Red Seal exams and how to find the National Occupational Analysis for different trades. We have also looked at the path to becoming a Journeyperson, exploring the role of Journeypeople, mentorship, and other opportunities that are available once you have obtained your Red Seal.

After completing the Learning Tasks in this Competency, you will understand that the apprenticeship process is designed to prepare you for becoming a Red Seal tradesperson and relies on a number of different groups and individuals to help you achieve success, this can include your employer and Journeyperson, the provincial training authority, community organizations, training institutions and of course you. As an apprentice in a skilled trade, you will be aware of the requirements to achieve your Red Seal and its importance along with what skills and areas you need to focus on to meet these criteria. Once you achieve your Red Seal you will understand the role you play as a Journeyperson both as an employee and as a mentor for other apprentices, and what opportunities there are for further advancement or other career opportunities connected to your trade.

Media Attributions

• "<u>Line B-4: Summary</u>" audio recording was generated using NaturalReader Commercial by BCcampus and is licensed under a <u>CC BY 4.0 licence</u>.

Answer Key

Self-Test 1

- 1. a. True
- 2. b. False
- 3. c. 80%-85%
- 4. d. 15%-20%
- 5. a. True
- 6. b. Provincial/territorial
- 7. d. Over 300
- 8. c. Construction, services, manufacturing and transportation
- 9. a. True
- 10. a. True
- 11. b. False
- 12. a. True
- 13. d. All of the above
- 14. a. Reading, numeracy and document use
- 15. a. True
- 16. b. False
- 17. a. True
- 18. c. Making decisions on which job sites you will work on for your employer
- 19. c. All of the above
- 20. d. Teaching apprentices based on the ITA's program outline for their trade and provide them with feedback
- 21. d. Be proactive and discuss the subsequent levels of technical training needed and how/ when they should be scheduled
- 22. b. False
- 23. b. False
- 24. a. True
- 25. b. Entry-level

Self-Test 2

- 1. a. True
- 2. b. False
- 3. b. False
- 4. b. 50 to 60
- 5. b. False
- 6. c. After they have successfully completed the Red seal exam and all other requirements for their apprenticeship
- 7. a. True
- 8. d. Pie chart
- 9. c. Between Canadian provinces and territories
- 10. c. Dress code

Self-Test 3

- 1. a. True
- 2. b. False
- 3. a. True
- 4. a. True
- 5. d. All of them
- 6. a. True
- 7. b. False
- 8. d. Requesting feedback
- 9. b. Strong desire to learn
- 10. b. False

Acknowledgements (1st Edition)

BCcampus would like to acknowledge the following individuals and organizations for their contributions in producing the Trades Access Common Core open textbook resources.

BCcampus

- Open Education Team
- Hilda Anggraeni, Graphics

Camosun College

- Olaf Nielsen, Chair, Trades Development and Special Projects, School of Trades and Technology
- Nannette Plant, Manager, Enterprise Point Operations & Special Projects, Office of the VP Strategic Development
- Rod Lidstone, Instructor, Plumbing and Pipe Trades, Lead Writer/Reviewer
- Brian Coey, Instructor, Sheet Metal and Metal Fabrication, Writer/Reviewer
- Zack (Richard) Zajchowski, Writer/Reviewer
- Matt Zeleny, Camosun Innovates, 3D imaging

Open School BC

- Monique Brewer, Director
- Adrian Hill, Instructional Designer
- Dennis Evans, Image Coordinator, Photographer, Graphics, Production Technician (layout)
- Farrah Patterson, Production Technician

Industry Training Authority of BC

The ITA works with employers, employees, industry, labour, training providers, and government to issue credentials, manage apprenticeships, set program standards, and increase opportunities in approximately 100 BC trades. Among its many functions are oversight of the development of training resources that align with program standards, outlines, and learning objectives, and authorizing permission to utilize these resources (text and images).

• Erin Johnston, Director of Training Delivery

• Cory Williams, Manager, Industry Relations

Publishing Services, Queen's Printer

- Spencer Tickner, Director of QP Publishing Services
- Dwayne Gordon, Manager, Electronic Publishing

Intellectual Property Program

Ilona Ugro, Copyright Officer, Ministry of Technology, Innovation and Citizens' Services, Province of British Columbia

Versioning History

This page provides a record of edits and changes made to this book since its initial publication. Whenever edits or updates are made in the text, we provide a record and description of those changes here. If the change is minor, the version number increases by 0.01. If the edits involve substantial updates, the version number increases to the next full number.

The files posted by this book always reflect the most recent version. If you find an error in this book, please fill out the Report an Error form.

Version	Date	Change	Details
1.00	2015	Book published.	
2.00	2021	Second edition published.	See About the Book for a list of changes in the second edition.